

# LUND UNIVERSITY

Shoulder pain after stroke: prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life

Lindgren, Ingrid

2013

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Lindgren, I. (2013). Shoulder pain after stroke: prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life. Rehabilitation medicine, Lund university.

Total number of authors: 1

#### **General rights**

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
  You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

#### LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Shoulder pain after stroke

Prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life

Ingrid Lindgren



### AKADEMISK AVHANDLING

som med vederbörligt tillstånd av Medicinska fakulteten vid Lunds universitet för avläggande av doktorsexamen i medicinsk vetenskap kommer att offentligen försvaras i sal H01, Health Science Centre, Baravägen 3, Lund

Fredagen den 6 december 2013, kl. 09.00

Fakultetsopponent

Docent Britta Lindström Institutionen för samhällsmedicin och rehabilitering, Umeå universitet

Organization	Document name		
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION		
Department of Health Sciences,			
Rehabilitation Medicine, Lund University	Date of issue		
221 00 Lund	2013-12-06		
Author(s) Ingrid Lindgren	Sponsoring organization		
Title and subtitle Shoulder pain after stroke – prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life			

Abstract

Post stroke shoulder pain, PSSP, is a common type of pain after stroke, but still further knowledge of this condition is needed. An increased knowledge of prevalence, contributing factors and impact on the individual's life could enhance the possibility to find more effective treatments and therefore more studies are needed. The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate PSSP with a special focus on prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life.

In an unselected stroke population of 327 individuals, the prevalence of PSSP was 22% four months post stroke. Predictors of PSSP (paper I) were shown to be severely affected arm motor function and severe impairments according to the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, (NIHSS). About 70% of the individuals with impaired sensorimotor function at stroke onset and PSSP at four months had still pain one year later. Predictors for long-lasting PSSP were leftsided hemiparesis, pain frequency and decreased passive shoulder abduction (paper II). In a group of 49 individuals with mild to moderate sensorimotor impairments post stroke (24 with and 25 without PSSP) and 11 healthy controls, somatosensory abnormalities were assessed with thermal and mechanical thresholds using the Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) method. No significant difference in QST measurements were found between the groups with and without PSSP, but both stroke groups had generally higher thermal thresholds and more extreme low or high mechanical thresholds than the healthy controls (paper III). The association between PSSP, sensorimotor function, ability to perform daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction were evaluated in 24 individuals with and 25 individuals without PSSP, all with mild to moderate sensorimotor impairments. PSSP was associated with reduced motor function, but the PSSP had a weak association with daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction (paper IV). In conclusion, this thesis has shown that PSSP is common in individuals with decreased upper extremity motor function. Left-sided hemiparesis, pain frequency and decreased passive shoulder abduction seem to predict long-lasting PSSP. In individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity paresis, somatosensory impairments seem to have a small impact on the pain and the PSSP appears to have only a small impact on their life situation.

Key words

Stroke, shoulder pain, outcome, arm motor function, range of motion, sensory thresholds, activities of daily living, participation, life satisfaction

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220 Shoulder pain after stroke		ISBN 978-91-87651-01-4
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

Signature Ingrid Lindgren Date 2013-10-28

# Shoulder pain after stroke

Prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life

Ingrid Lindgren



Cover photo Lena Lyons

Copyright Ingrid Lindgren

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2013:126. ISBN 978-91-87651-01-4 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2013







To my family

# Table of contents

Abstract	9
List of papers	10
Abbreviations	11
Preface	12
Introduction	13
Stroke	13
Consequences after stroke	13
Rehabilitation	14
Pain after stroke	15
Definition of pain	16
Post-stroke shoulder pain	17
Prevalence of PSSP	17
Contributing factors to PSSP	18
Treatments for PSSP	19
Consequences of PSSP in daily life	19
Rationale for the thesis/research fields	21
Aims	23
Overall aim	23
Specific aims	23
Methods	25
Participants	25
Assessments and outcome measures	28
Baseline assessments	28
Outcome measures	29
Outcome measures to assess impairments	29
Outcome measures to assess activity limitations	32
Outcome measures to assess participation restrictions	33
Outcome measures to assess self-perceived health and life satisfaction	33
Site of examination and assessors	33

Statistics	34
Ethics	35
Results	37
Prevalence of PSSP	37
PSSP characteristics	37
Contributing factors to PSSP	38
Motor impairments	38
Range of motion	38
Somatosensory impairments	39
Other contributing factors	39
Consequences of PSSP in daily life	39
Activity limitations	39
Perceived participation restrictions	40
Self-perceived health and life satisfaction	40
General discussion	41
Prevalence of PSSP	41
Contributing factors to PSSP	41
Who are at risk of developing PSSP?	42
Who are at risk for long-lasting PSSP?	42
Consequences of PSSP in daily life	43
Methodological considerations	44
Participants	44
Methods	44
Strengths and limitations	46
Clinical implications and future studies	47
Prevention	47
Assessments	47
Treatments	47
Considerations for future studies	48
Conclusions	49
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	51
Acknowledgements	53
Fundings	55
References	57

# Abstract

Post stroke shoulder pain, PSSP, is a common type of pain after stroke, but still further knowledge of this condition is needed. An increased knowledge of prevalence, contributing factors and impact on the individual's life could enhance the possibility to find more effective treatments and therefore more studies are needed. The overall aim of this thesis was to evaluate PSSP with a special focus on prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life.

In an unselected stroke population of 327 individuals, the prevalence of PSSP was 22% four months post stroke. Predictors of PSSP (paper I) were shown to be severely affected arm motor function and severe impairments according to the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, (NIHSS). About 70% of the individuals with impaired sensorimotor function at stroke onset and PSSP at four months had still pain one year later. Predictors for long-lasting PSSP were left-sided hemiparesis, pain frequency and decreased passive shoulder abduction (paper II). In a group of 49 individuals with mild to moderate sensorimotor impairments post stroke (24 with and 25 without PSSP) and 11 healthy controls, somatosensory abnormalities were assessed with thermal and mechanical thresholds using the Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) method. No significant difference in QST measurements were found between the groups with and without PSSP, but both stroke groups had generally higher thermal thresholds and more extreme low or high mechanical thresholds than the healthy controls (paper III). The association between PSSP, sensorimotor function, ability to perform daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction were evaluated in 24 individuals with and 25 individuals without PSSP, all with mild to moderate sensorimotor impairments. PSSP was associated with reduced motor function, but the PSSP had a weak association with daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction (paper IV). In conclusion, this thesis has shown that PSSP is common in individuals with decreased upper extremity motor function. Left-sided hemiparesis, pain frequency and decreased passive shoulder abduction seem to predict long-lasting PSSP. In individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity paresis, somatosensory impairments seem to have only a small impact on the pain and the PSSP appears to have a small impact on their life situation.

# List of papers

#### I

Lindgren I, Jönsson AC, Norrving B, Lindgren A. Shoulder pain after stroke: a prospective population-based study. Stroke. 2007;38:343-348.

#### II

Lindgren I, Lexell J, Jönsson AC, Brogårdh C. Left-sided hemiparesis, pain frequency, and decreased passive shoulder range of abduction are predictors of long-lasting poststroke shoulder pain. PM R. 2012;4:561-568.

#### III

Lindgren I, Ekstrand E, Lexell J, Westergren H, Brogårdh C. Somatosensory impairments are common after stroke but have only a small impact on post-stroke shoulder pain. J Rehabil Med. Accepted for publication.

#### IV

Lindgren I, Brogårdh C. Post-stroke shoulder pain and its association with upper extremity sensorimotor function, daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction. Submitted.

# Abbreviations

ADL	Activities of Daily Living
BI	Barthel Index
BMI	Body Mass Index
CDT	Cold Detection Threshold
CI	Cerebral Infarction
CI	Confidence Interval
CPT	Cold Pain Threshold
ESD	Early Supported Discharge
HPT	Heat Pain Threshold
IASP	International Association of Pain
ICF	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health
LiSat-11	Life Satisfaction check list
MAS	Modified Ashworth Scale
M-MAS	Modified Motor Assessment Scale
NIHSS	National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale
OR	Odds Ratio
P-ADL	Personal Activities of Daily Living
PSSP	Post Stroke Shoulder Pain
QST	Quantitative Sensory Testing
ROM	Range of Motion
SIS	Stroke Impact Scale
VAS	Visual Analogue Scale
VAS-P	Visual Analogue Scale for Pain
WDT	Warm Detection Threshold

# Preface

When I was studying to be a physiotherapist, the supervisor physiotherapist in Lund, Kerstin Lundbladh, had innovating and inspiring lectures on the topic of how to analyze and treat persons with stroke. Already at that point I became engrossed with this field of clinical practice and decided to embark upon a physiotherapy carreer within rehabilitation of persons with stroke and other neurology impairments. It was also Kerstin Lundbladh who recommended me an article about shoulder pain, written by Judith Griffin (Griffin JW. Hemiplegic shoulder pain Phys Ther. 1986 Dec;66(12):1884-93); this was the first article I read on the topic. In my clinical work I continuosly meet patients with stroke and who suffer from shoulder pain. The questions I get from patients, their next to kin and from staff have been why does the problem exists and how can one treat it. The general opinion in the clinical setting I feel, is that the problem of shoulder pain following stroke is a matter for the physiotherapist to solve. During my clinical years I have many times wondered why stroke patients have pain specifically in the shoulder. Even if there are a lot of studies performed, differences in design and study populations make it difficult to generalize results. My first study aimed to find out the prevalence of shoulder pain in a stroke population. The results were important for the research area and also for the following studies in the thesis. However, my research did not take off at that point, and years passed when I was engaged with other interesting tasks in my profession, such as working with a wide range of neurological diseases and disorders as well as working with healthcare management. I am thus grateful to Associate professor Christina Brogårdh and Professor Jan Lexell for urging me and facilitating for me to take up again and continue with my research on shoulder pain following stroke. Even if the problem with shoulder pain has not been solved as I ideally hoped at the beginning of my doctoral studies, and although of course more interventions are still required, some new knowledge has been added to the area. For the individuals suffering from consequences of stroke, shoulder pain is one of many problems. As healthcare professionals, it is our duty to search for best prevention, treatments and strategies to avoid and minimize the consequences of stroke, to regain function and increase activity, participation and life satisfaction.

# Introduction

## Stroke

Stroke is the third leading course of mortality in our society and the most common cause of long-term disabilities in the adult population. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), stroke is defined as an "acute neurological dysfunction of vascular origin with sudden or at least rapid occurrence of symptoms or signs corresponding to involvement of focal areas of the brain" (1). There are two main types of stroke; hemorrhages (10-15%) and ischemic strokes (85%). Every year about 25 000 individuals in Sweden have their first stroke (2).

### Consequences after stroke

Stroke often leads to consequences in the individual's daily life. These consequences can be described in the context of impairments (i.e. problems in body functions and structures), activity limitiations (i.e. problems in the execution of a task), participation restrictions (i.e. problems in involvement in life situations) as well as personal and environmental factors according to the International classification of functioning, disability and health (ICF) formulated by the WHO (3) (Fig 1).



Fig 1. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) (WHO 2001).

Common primary impairments in the acute phase are paralysis or paresis, sensory deficits, impaired balance as well as problems with cognition, speech, dysphagia and vision. Secondary complications may also develop and give rise to impairments such as pain and infections. The impairments lead to activity limitations and participaton

restrictions. Examples of activity limitations and participation restrictions are difficulties in walking, getting dressed/undressed (P-ADL), carrying out daily routines, doing housework, working, using transportation and taking part in recreational and leisure activities. During the first three months after stroke, impairments, activity limitiations and participation resricitions have been shown to lead to reduced health-related quality of life, while in a longer perspective, environmental factors and personal factors are of greater importance for helath-related quality of life (4, 5). Motor impairments are the most common impairment after stroke (6). Various impairments in the arm and hand are present in as many as 50 to 80% of the stroke patients in the acute phase (7-9). Recovery of the arm and hand mainly occurs within three months post stroke (9), however after 3-6 months, about 60-80 % of these individuals are reported to have upper extremity impairments (9, 10).

### Rehabilitation

According to the World Health Organization, rehabilitation of people with disabilities is defined as "a process aimed at enabling them to reach and maintain their optimal physical, sensory, intellectual, psychological and social functional levels". Rehabilitation aims to provide disabled people with the tools they need to attain independence and self-determination (11). To optimize rehabilitation, one must evaluate the consequences of the impairments for the individual, and therefore it is important to ascertain how the impairments are associated with the ability to perform daily activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction. The rehabilitation process in the clinical setting aims to find ways to regain and optimize motor function, activity and participation, but also to prevent and minimize the negative consequences of stroke through pain relief, physical activity and coping strategies.

For all types of stroke care and rehabilitation, the team work is essential. Stroke rehabilitation should commence already in the acute care phase. There is evidence that care in a stroke unit, staffed by a multidisciplinary team is beneficial (12). Many persons require further rehabilitation after discharge from the stroke unit, therefore the rehabilitation continues in different forms and at different care levels depending on the individual's needs. In stroke rehabilitation, the interdisciplinary or multidisciplinary team works together with the patient using a process involving goal setting, assessment, intervention and reassessment from the ICF perspective. Early supported discharge (ESD) and continued rehabilitation at home after stroke have been shown to be beneficial (13) and is recommended for individuals with mild or moderate deficits by the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare (14). The professions represented in an ESD-team can vary, but usually a physiotherapist and an occupational therapist are involved and a physician works either as a team member or as a consultant. Some indivuals will benefit from an intense rehabilitation period at a rehabilitation facility, either as inpatient or outpatient. Rehabilitation in primary care, either offered by the primary care centers or in the realms of community care, is for some indivuals beneficial

already after the acute care and for others after a rehabilitation period. A well functioning chain of care between the hospital, primary care centers and community care are crucial for an effective rehabilitation.

The physiotherapist's role in the team is to have a special focus on mobility, gait, balance, arm- and hand exercises and physical activity (15, 16). Pain relief is a task for the whole team; while the physician may prescribe medications, administer intra articular corticoid injections or botulinum toxin, the physiotherapist may use of electrical stimulation or programs including careful mobilisations, the occupational therapist tries to find non-painful ways to perform daily activities, the nurse employs non-painful relaxing positions and the social worker ways to cope with the pain.

To be able to evaluate recovery and changes after interventions and functioning over time, reliable and valid outcome measures are required that cover all ICF domains. Assessments must be related to the situation and disability but also time aspects have to be considered. To be able to cover different aspects of a problem and its consequences, a combination of objective measurements, interview methods and self-reported assessments are needed.

# Pain after stroke

Pain is a common impairment after stroke and has been reported in more than one third of stroke survivors (17, 18). Shoulder pain, here referred to as PSSP, is one common pain type (18, 19), other types are headache, central pain, spasticity related pain and musculoskeletal pain (18) (Fig 2). While PSSP, headache, spasticity and musculosceletal pain are reported to occur in around 10-40% (18), central pain is reported to affect about 3-10 % of the stroke population (17, 19). There is a difficulty in differentiating these pain types, as for example PSSP might be caused by as well musculosceltal pain as spasticy and central pain (Fig 2).

More than one type of pain (for example PSSP and headache) is reported by about one third of the individuals with post-stroke pain and also one third describe a moderate to severe impact on daily life (17). Post-stroke pain is more common in individuals with severe stroke. Low age has been reported to be a risk factor for development of post-stroke pain (18, 20), in contrast to the general population where prevalence of pain increases with age. Also depression is mentioned as a risk factor (18).



#### Fig 2.

Common types of chronic pain that can occur after stroke. Diagram of the complexity of PSSP. An individual can have a single pain type or a combination of pain types (overlapping areas). The sizes of the circles are approximate to relative frequency (spasticity 7%, headache 10%, CPSP 10%, shoulder pain 20%, musculoskeletal pain 40%). CPSP=central post-stroke pain. Klit et al. Central post-stroke pain: clinical characteristics, pathophysiology, and management. Lancet Neurol 2009 Sep;8(9):857-68 (21).

### Definition of pain

According to the International Association of Pain, IASP, pain is defined as "an unpleasant sensation and emotional experience which is associated with actual and potential tissue damage or is described in terms of such damage" (22) and by ICF as "Sensation of unpleasant feeling indicating potential or actual damage to some body structure felt in a specific part, or parts, of the body" (3). Pain impulses transmit in the afferent pain fibers from the periphery via the spinothalamic, spinoreticularic and spinomesencephalic tracts and pain arises when the action potentials finally reach the sensory cortical areas. Different types of fibers conduct the impulses; A- delta, which are myelinated and lead pain, hard pressure and cold and C-fibers which are unmyelinated and lead pain, heat and touch. While A-delta fibers give a sharp well localized pain, Cfibers give a more diffuse located pain and dull aching. Nociceptive neurons in the dorsal horn are of two main types, namely "nociceptive specific" and "wide dynamic range" neurons (WDR). WDR neurons receive input from both noxious and non-noxious afference including afference from A-beta fibres. Normally WDR neurons do not respond to non-noxious stimuli, however they may become sensitized and hyperresponsive under certain conditions to low threshold stimuli such as touch or movement. The WDR neuron becomes hyperactive and therefore can non-painful stimuli be perceived as painful (allodynia) (23).

Peripheral as well as central sensitization develop already after a short period of acute pain stimuli, but as time goes by it becomes more manifest. While peripheral sensitization is a reduction in threshold and an increase in responsiveness of the peripheral ends of nociceptors, central sensitization is a more complex phenomenon. An increased sensitivity in the second neuron and in the surrounding neurons appears. Also descending systems contribute to the increased excitability. Interaction between nerve cells and glia cells also contribute to central sensitization and repeated activation of C-fibers lead to increased and remaining answer in the second neuron, a phenomenon named wind-up.

Based on origin, pain can be divided into nociceptive, neuropathic and other pain, were the latter includes pain without neurobiological origin (24). Nociceptive pain is defined as an activation of high threshold receptors which are localized in the whole body. Examples are pain raised by an inflammatory processes, ischemia or degenerative processes in for example muscles, nerves or tendons. Neuropathic pain is defined as pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease in the somatosensory nervous system and can appear weeks or months after the injury. It can arise spontaneously or be trigged by a stimulus. When neuropathic pain exists, an impact of the sensory system is apparent, either as a hypo- or a hyper phenomenon. It is common that the pain- or temperature sensory is affected (25). One type of neuropathic pain is Central Post Stroke Pain, CPSP. The central pain can be spread over smaller or greater areas of the affected side. Stroke in the thalamic area is known as a risk for central pain, but studies have shown that it can arise even if the stroke is localized in other areas (21).

# Post-stroke shoulder pain

Even if post-stroke shoulder pain (PSSP) is one of the most common forms of pain after stroke, a precise definition does not exist (26) and consensus has not been reached about a time span for pain onset, pain characteristics and localization. One reason is probably that several underlying causes may contribute to the development and maintenance of PSSP. Another challenge when trying to define PSSP is that shoulder pain and shoulder problems are common in the general population. The reported prevalence in a general population has in studies varied between 7% and 30% (27), with the highest prevalence in the 50-70 years of age (28), ages in which stroke is prevalent. Demarcation of which pain is stroke related or not is in some cases difficult. It is also difficult to evaluate if individuals with shoulder pain prior to stroke are predisposed to PSSP.

### Prevalence of PSSP

The prevalence of PSSP varies hugely in previous studies from 5-84% (29-32). Plausible reasons for these wide discrepancies are differences in definitions, time span after stroke, assessments or studied population. Differences in care and rehabilitation may also contribute to the variety in prevalence. The incidence of PSSP has in some studies been reported to be associated with age (33, 34) and one study has reported higher prevalence of PSSP in women (33). Though, differences in PSSP prevalence according to age and sex have not been confirmed in other studies (30, 31).

### **Contributing factors to PSSP**

A variety of underlying causes and contributing factors for PSSP have been suggested in the literature, as motor impairments, decreased range of motion and somatoensory disturbances. These contributing factors may be present separately or exist together.

#### Motor impairments

Reduced motor function, paresis as measured by the Motor Assessment Scale (35) the NIHSS (30) or the Motricity Index and the Frenchay Arm Test (36), have earlier been described to be related to PSSP. Reduced motor function and muscle imbalance might lead to changes in joint positions and subluxation. Subluxation leads to overstretching of soft tissues around the glenohumeral joint. A causal relationship between subluxation and PSSP has been suggested as measured by palpation (33, 37, 38), or with radiographs (34, 39) but not all authors have found this relationship (40).

Changes in muscle tone lead to lack of normal movements. Therefore increased muscle tone as assessed by the Ashworth or Modified Ashworth Scale has been considered to be associated with post stroke shoulder pain in some studies (41, 42), but other studies have not confirmed these findings (34, 37, 39).

#### Range of motion

Range of motion is often decreased in individuals with hemiparesis. A relation between decreased range of motion assessed by goniometer and shoulder pain has been found (35, 36, 43). However range of motion decreases over time and the relationship to long-lasting PSSP have rarely been described.

#### Somatosensory impairments

Recently, studies have suggested that somatosensory impairments can play a role in the development and maintenance of post stroke shoulder pain (44, 45). Measuring light touch and proprioception is in the clinical setting and in research often performed with the participant's eyes closed while trying to localize the touch or movement direction. Several tests exist on this concept (46, 47). To quantify thermal and mechanical impairments, the Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST) method can be used (44, 48, 49). With this method, it is possible to study different functions of the somatosensory system. Analyses of thermal thresholds allow the assessment of A-delta and C-fibres, and analyses of mechanichal thresholds allow the assessment of A-beta fibres. The QST is described more in detail in the Method section.

Shoulder pain as an expression of a central pain process has been suggested (21, 50) but this relationship remains. For central pain diagnosis, several criteria have to be fulfilled, as pain within an area of the body corresponding to the lesion of the CNS, and other causes of pain such as nociceptive or peripheral neuropathic pain excluded or considered highly unlikely (21).

#### Other contributing factors

Stroke laterality might play a role; a stroke in the right hemisphere has been suggested to be a contributing factor for PSSP, (31, 33, 51), but the results in previous studies varies (34, 37). The suggested theory is that stroke in the right hemisphere may lead to neglect, which in turn might lead to lack of attention and less caring of the affected arm.

As most individuals with PSSP have decreased motor function in the shoulder a risk for "learned nonuse", where movements are suppressed, is evident. This phenomenon may prevent or limit motor recovery (52), which may in turn lead to pain.

## **Treatments for PSSP**

Evidence for PSSP treatments is limited. With the regard to the effect on shoulder pain after three months, only intramuscular neuromuscular electric stimulation (NMES) has been found to be effective in relieving the pain (53), but this is a complicated treatment only suitable for some individuals with stroke and also few studies have been performed to confirm the findings. Due to the fact that there is poor evidence for most of the treatments used in the clinical settings, more studies are needed. Common treatments and regims are pain medication, range of movement exercises, gentle handling, orthoses and other types of support for the arm. While gentle handling, movement exercises and support for the arm are common as preventive measures, pain medication, movement exercises, electrical stimulation and acupuncture are examples of treatments given to indivuduals who have developed PSSP. Usually, the physiotherapist is responsible for the analysis of the PSSP, and in conjunction with the individual suffering from PSSP and the other team members a decision is made as to which interventions could be actual. Despite these measures, PSSP develops and also remains in many individuals.

### Consequences of PSSP in daily life

Even if PSSP is reported to be associated with depression (30) and longer hospital stay (39, 54), very few studies have investigated how PSSP impacts on daily life, i.e. lead to daily activity limitations, participation restrictions and reduced life satisfaction, and also their outcome measurements and results differ.

### Activity limitations

One study has reported that individuals with PSSP in the subacute phase have more activity limitations, according to Barthel Index, than individuals without shoulder pain (55), but two other studies using the same outcome measure have not been able to confirm this finding (30, 37). Neither have authors who used other instruments to measure activity, such as Arm Motor Ability Test, Motor Activity Log (MAL) and Nine Hole Peg Test, found a relation between PSSP and activity (56-58). While the Barthel Index assesses daily activities more in general, the Arm Motor Ability Test, MAL and Nine Hole Peg Test are conducted to measure more specifically daily arm and hand activities.

#### Perceived participation restrictions

Perceived participation is an individuals experience of involvements in life situations. An association between PSSP and decreased participation was found in one study were the Stroke Specific Quality of Life instrument was used (56), whereas another study using the Reintegration to Normal Living Index, did not find such a relationship (57). A suitable measurement for use in a Swedish stroke population is the participation domain in Stroke Impact Scale, SIS (59, 60).

#### Impact on self-perceived health, life satisfaction and quality of life

Self-perceived health is an indicator of overall health status and has been shown to be associated with change in functioning (61). To get information about the individual's self-perceived health in general, the generic instrument SF-36, a short form health survey, can be used (62). However, no study has been found wich has used this instrument in evaluating PSSP and self-perceived health.

Life satisfaction refers to a judgemental process in which individuals assess the quality of their lives on the basis of their own unique set of criteria (63). Judgements of satisfaction are dependent upon a comparison of one's circumstances with what is thought to be an appropriate standard (64). No study, assessing life satisfaction among individuals with PSSP, has been found. An instrument previously used to assess life satisfaction in stroke studies in general is the Life Satisfaction Checklist, LiSat-11, (65, 66).

Life satisfaction should not be confused with the related term quality of life (QOL), which refers to general well-being of individuals and societies and also includes environment. QOL is defined as " the individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value system in which they live and in realation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns" (67). Only one study has found an association between PSSP and reduced quality of life. In this study, pain-related quality of life was assessed with the Brief Pain Inventory question number 12 (58).

# Rationale for the thesis/research fields

Since there is a difference in the reported shoulder pain frequency among individuals suffering from stroke and it is still not clear which factors contribute to the development and maintenance of post-stroke shoulder pain, more studies are needed. New theories have indicated a relationship with somatosensory function, but few studies are done and the evidence is still unclear. Also, few studies have investigated how shoulder pain impacts on daily life. Results from these studies vary about how shoulder pain is related to activity, perceived participation and life satisfaction, i.e. the dignity of the shoulder pain problem among other problems affecting the individual with stroke. An increased understanding can assist the clinicians in the planning of more individually targeted interventions. With this background a general aim and specific aims were developed.

# Aims

# Overall aim

The overall aim of this thesis was to increase knowledge of PSSP with respect to prevalence, contributing factors and consequences in daily life.

# Specific aims

- To provide more detailed data about PSSP, including prevalancee, characteristics, influence on daily life, and predictors, in a population-based group of first-ever stroke patients.
- To determine the proportion of persons with PSSP four months after onset of the stroke in whom long-lasting shoulder pain develops and to assess the extent to which age, side of paresis at stroke onset, pain frequency and pain intensity, passive shoulder range of motion, resistance to passive movements, motor function and subluxation at four months after stroke predicts shoulder pain one year later.
- To investigate if somatosensory impairments are more common in individuals with PSSP than individuals without PSSP (non-PSSP) and healthy controls (HC).
- To assess the differences in upper extremity sensorimotor function, daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction between individuals with and without PSSP and to determine how PSSP is associated with these variables.

# Methods

# Participants

In Table I, an overview of design, participants, recruitment, inclusion and exclusion criteria and data collection is presented. Participants were recruited from two populations. The first population was included in study I and II and the second population in study III and IV.

#### Table I.

Overview of the study design, participants, recruitment origin, inclusion and exclusion criteria and data collection for studies I-IV

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Design	Prospective	Prospective	Cross-sectional study	Cross-sectional study
Sample	study 327 unselected individuals with stroke	study 58 individuals with stroke, selected from the 327 individuals in study 1	49 selected community-dwelling individuals with stroke (24 with and 25 without PSSP) and 11 healthy controls	49 selected community- dwelling individuals with stroke (24 with and 25 without PSSP)
Mean age	73 ±12	71±14	64±9 (stroke participants) 65±6 (healthy controls)	64±9
Male n (%)	195 (60)	37 (64)	35 (71) (stroke participants) 7 (64) (healthy controls)	35 (71)
Recruitment origin	Lund Stroke Register	Lund Stroke Register	Lund Stroke Register, Departments of Neurology and Rehabilitation Medicine, Skåne University Hospital (stroke participants) Healthy controls recruited from colleagues and friends	Lund Stroke Register, Departments of Neurology and Rehabilitation Medicine, Skåne University Hospital
Inclusion criteria	First-ever stroke	First-ever stroke, affected sensorimotor function at stroke onset and shoulder pain four months post stroke	Stroke with onset at least five months prior to study enrollment, decreased sensorimotor function in the affected arm, but ability to use the arm to some extent in daily activities For PSSP-participants: Pain in the affected shoulder for at least four months after stroke onset, daily or almost daily pain For healthy controls: No shoulder pain	Stroke with onset at least five months prior to study enrollment, decreased sensorimotor function in the affected arm, but ability to use the arm to some extent in daily activities For PSSP-participants: Pain in the affected shoulder for at least four months after stroke onset, daily or almost daily pain
Exclusion criteria	None	None	Difficulty to communicate or to understand test instructions, other conditions causing pain or sensory disturbances (e.g. example fibromyalgia and arthritis), severe depression or other psychiatric conditions	Difficulty to communicate or to understand test instructions, other conditions causing pain or sensory disturbances (e.g.fibromyalgia and arthritis), severe depression or other psychiatric conditions
Data collection	Four and 16 months post stroke	Four and 16 months post stroke	Median 14 months post stroke	Median 14 months post stroke

In Fig 3, a flow chart for study I is presented. In study I, 327 consecutive first-ever stroke patients with stroke onset between March 1, 2001 and February 28, 2002 were included. All patients with a first-ever stroke who accepted to participate in the Lund Stroke Register were included. All but one with a final diagnosis of first-ever stroke underwent computed tomography scan of the brain. The 327 participants were assessed at a median period of four months after stroke and one year later the 305 participants who remained in the study were reassessed. To gain further knowledge about post-stroke shoulder pain, data from 58 of the 71 individuals with PSSP from this population were selected for study II. These participants had sensorimotor impairments at stroke onset and shoulder pain four months after stroke.



Fig. 3. Flow chart for study I.

In Fig. 4, a flow chart for study III and IV is presented. For study III and IV, a new population was recruited. This population consisted of 49 community-dwelling individuals (24 with and 25 without PSSP) with mild to moderate sensorimotor impairments after stroke. All but one were independent walkers and all but three were independent in personal activities of daily living (P-ADL). In study III, also 11 healthy sex and age matched controls were included.



Fig. 4.

Flow chart for study III and IV.

## Assessments and outcome measures

#### **Baseline assessments**

In all studies descriptives such as age, sex, height and weight are given. Demographic data was also collected before assessments; type of stroke, sub type of stroke, side of paresis, presence of diabetes mellitus (as shoulder pain could be a complication to diabetes mellitus), abnormal sensation, pain in other body parts, and length of poststroke rehabilitation period. Primary activities of daily living such as walking ability, dressing and toileting, hand dominance and ability to grasp and release an object were also recorded. Furthermore, the participants' main living situation as well as family and vocational situation were documented. To characterize the shoulder pain the following data were registered; pain onset, location, frequency, quality and situations, medication for shoulder pain, pain during movements and/or at rest and pain at touch.

#### Outcome measures

The outcome measures used in studies I-IV are given in Table II.

#### Table II.

Overview of outcome measures

Outcome measures	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Visual Analogue Scale for Pain (VAS-P)	Х	Х	х	Х
National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale (NIHSS)	Х	Х		
Modified Motor Assessment Scale (M-MAS)	Х	Х	Х	Х
Subluxation (palpation)	Х	Х		Х
Modified Ashworth Scale (MAS)		Х	Х	Х
Range of motion, ROM (goniometer)		Х	Х	Х
Light touch (Fugl-Meyer)	Х		Х	Х
Proprioception (Fugl-Meyer)			Х	Х
Quantitative Sensory Testing (QST)			Х	
Barthel Index (BI)	Х			
ABILHAND questionnaire				Х
Stroke Impact Scale (SIS)				Х
SF-36	Х			
Life Satisfaction Check List (LiSat-11)				Х

### Outcome measures to assess impairments

#### Shoulder pain intensity

In paper I-IV, the subjects evaluated their shoulder pain intensity during the previous 48 hours by using the 0 to 100 mm Visual Analogue Scale for Pain (VAS-P) marked at one end "no pain" and at the other "worst imaginable pain" (in Swedish) (68). In this method, a scale is presented, and the person has to estimate how much pain he/she

has. VAS-P score zero was defined as no pain, 10-30 as mild pain and 40-100 as moderate to severe pain (69). VAS is commonly used in the clinical setting as well in studies.

#### Impairment scale

In paper I, the National Institutes of Health Stroke Scale, or NIH Stroke Scale (NIHSS) was used. This is a tool to objectively quantify the impairments caused by a stroke. The NIHSS comprises 11 items, each of which scores a specific ability between a 0 and 4. In the version used in these studies, an item for right and left hand motor function is included (70). For each item, a score of 0 indicates normal function in that specific ability, while a higher score indicates some level of impairment (70). NIHSS is reliable (71) and is recommended for use in the clinical situation as well as in research (72).

#### Motor function

In paper I-IV, motor function of the upper arm and hand as well as advanced hand activities were assessed with the Swedish version of the Modified Motor Assessment Scale (M-MAS UAS-95) which is a reliable and valid outcome measure (73, 74). In this instrument, the subscales range from 0 to 5, where 5 is normal or almost normal motor function and 0 is no motor function. In paper I and II, only the upper arm was assessed; the maximum total score for each arm was 5 points. In paper III and IV, both upper arm, hand and advanced hand activities were assessed and the maximal total score was therefore 15 points.

#### Subluxation

In paper I and II, subluxation was registered as present/not present by palpation of the glenohumeral joint, with the participant in an upright sitting position, which has been shown to be a reliable method (38, 75, 76).

#### Resistance to passive movements

In paper II-IV, the Modified Ashworth Scale, MAS (77, 78) was used to measure resistance to passive movements. This outcome measure has been shown to be reliable (78). In these papers resistance to passive movements was assessed in the elbow. The scale ranges from 0 to 4, where 0 = no increase in muscle tone, 1-3 = some degree of increased muscle tone and 4 = rigidity in flexion or extension.

#### Range of motion

In paper II-IV, passive range of motion, ROM, was assessed with a hand held goniometer. This is a reliable method (79) and a common assessment in as well the clinical setting as in research (79, 80).

#### Light touch and proprioception

In paper I, light touch was registered in the arm as normal or diminished/absent. In paper III and IV, proprioception and light touch was assessed according to Fugl Meyer (46, 81). Light touch in the upper arm and forearm, hands and fingers were assessed using a cotton swab and recorded as normal, diminished, increased or absent. Proprioception was assessed in the thumbs and wrists using a 3-point scale, where 2 = all four attempts correct, 1 = 3/4 attempts correct and 0 = <3/4 attempts correct.

#### Thermal and mechanical thresholds

In paper III, thermal and mechanical thresholds were assessed using the Quantitative Sensory Threshold (QST) equipment (Somedic AB) (82, 83) (Fig. 5a and 5b). Thermal thresholds were assessed with the MSA Thermotest and included cold detection thresholds (CDT), warmth detection thresholds (WDT), cold pain thresholds (CPT) and heat pain thresholds (HPT). The mechanical tests, i.e., pressure pain thresholds (PPT) and pin prick pain thresholds (PPT) were assessed with the Algometer and the SenseBox Electronic von Frey. The method of limits was used, i.e. the intensity of the stimulus applied to the skin was increased (or decreased) until the subject perceived a stimulus or felt it painful. The detection threshold was defined as the minimum intensity of a stimulus perceived as spainful (83).

During the QST, the participants were assessed when sitting upright in a chair. They used a handheld switch in their unaffected/dominant hand and were instructed to press the switch when they felt cold/warm sensations, cold/heat pain or discomfort, and pressure/pin prick pain or discomfort. When the participant pressed the switch, the assessment stopped. All QST assessments were performed by the same examiner and lasted about one hour.

In the thermal tests, a thermode, 25 mm x 50 mm, with an initial temperature of  $32^{\circ}$  C and a speed of 1°/sec, was applied to the skin. During the cold tests the temperature gradually decreased until a minimum of  $10^{\circ}$  C. During the warmth/heat tests the temperature gradually increased, with a maximum temperature of  $50^{\circ}$  C. The thermal test was performed on the unaffected/dominant leg (i.e., reference point), on the unaffected/dominant upper arm and on the affected/non-dominant upper arm.

The PPT was assessed with an electronic algometer, using a probe with a pressure diameter of  $1 \text{ cm}^2$  and a slope of 50 kPa/s. The pressure was initiated at 10 kPa, and the examiner gradually increased the pressure until the participant pressed the switch. The maximum pressure was set to 1000 kPa. The unaffected/dominant arm and the affected/non-dominant arm were assessed. The probe was applied on three points: upper, middle and lower part of the middle deltoid muscle.

The PPPT was assessed with an electric von Frey transducer, using a 0.2 mm tip diameter with a speed of 10 g/sec. The PPPT commenced at 10 g and the examiner gradually increased the pressure until the participant pressed the switch. The maximum pressure was set to 400 g. The PPPT was assessed once over three points in the upper, middle and lower part of the deltoid muscle. The unaffected/dominant arm was assessed first and thereafter the affected/non-dominant arm.



**Fig 5a.** Quantitative Sensory Test equipment (Somedic AB, Hörby Sweden); MSA thermotest.





#### Outcome measures to assess activity limitations

In paper I, daily activities were assessed with the Barthel Index (BI) (84). Ten activities of daily living (feeding, bathing, grooming, dressing, bowels, bladder, toilet use, transfers from bed to chair and back, mobility and stairs) are assessed on a three-graded scale, with a scoring of 0, 5 and 10 points, giving a maximum score of 100 points. The scale was divided into three grades of dependency: independency (score 95-100), moderate dependency (score 60-90) and major dependency (score 0-55) (85). In paper IV, ability to perform daily hand activities was assessed with the ABILHAND Questionnaire (86, 87), which is a self-report outcome measure. ABILHAND measures self-perceived ability to perform complex hand activities in 23 daily situations. The participants rate their perceived difficulty in performing each activity based on a three-level response scale: 2 = easy, 1 = difficult or 0 = impossible. Activities not performed during the past three months are scored as missing responses. The ABILHAND is Rasch analysed (86, 87) and has been shown to be valid and reliable in persons with chronic strokes (87, 88).

#### Outcome measures to assess participation restrictions

In paper IV, perceived participation was assessed by the participation domain in Stroke Impact Scale (SIS) 3.0, domain 8 (59, 60); this domain can be analyzed separately and addresses the impact of stroke on work, social activities, quiet recreations, active recreations, role as a family member, religious activities, life control and ability to help others. The participants responded to the items in each domain using a 5-point rating scale from 5 = none of the time to 1 = all of the time. For each subject, the mean score of the items was calculated and converted into a percentage value. Higher scores indicate low restrictions in perceived participation, whereas low values indicate more restrictions in participation. The SIS is a stroke specific outcome measure developed from persons with mild to moderate stroke. SIS has been Rasch analysed (60), is reported to be reliable, valid and sensitive to change (59, 60) and is frequently used in clinical stroke studies (89).

#### Outcome measures to assess self-perceived health and life satisfaction

In paper I, self-perceived health status was assessed by SF-36 (62). SF-36 consists of 8 health domains. It is a common instrument and also suitable for use in older adults (90). In paper I, only two questions were used; 1. In general, how would you say your health is? (Excellent, very good, good, fair, poor), and 2. Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now? (Much better than a year ago, somewhat better than a year ago, about the same as one year ago, somewhat worse now than one year ago). In paper IV, life satisfaction was assessed with the Life satisfaction Checklist, LiSat-11 (65), which is a self-administered questionnaire that assesses global satisfaction with life in one item and domain-specific satisfaction in 10 items. Only the item assessing level of global satisfaction with life (i.e., life as a whole) was used here. LiSat-11 uses a six-step ordinal self-rating scale ranging from 6 = very satisfying to 1 = very dissatisfying. The response options were dichotomized, with scores of 5-6 meaning 'satisfied', and scores 1-4 meaning 'dissatisfied' as described by Fugl-Meyer et al. (65). The questionnaire has previously been used for individuals after stroke using the global question (life as a whole) as a measure of life satisfaction (66).

#### Site of examination and assessors

In paper I and II, approximately 70% of the participants examined were able to come to the outpatient clinic at the Department of Neurology, whereas the remaining were examined in primary care centers (approximately 10%) nursing homes (approximately 10%) and their own homes (approximately 10%). All assessments of shoulder pain and upper extremity were performed by the author. General assessments, as baseline data were performed in collaboration with a registered nurse. In paper III and IV all participants were assessed at the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine. Assessments in paper III were performed by two physiotherapists; one therapist performed the QST-

assessments and the author the rest of the assessments. Assessments in paper IV were performed by the author.

## Statistics

Several statistical methods were used in the papers (Table III). The Mann-Whitney Utest and the independent sample t-test were used for continuous variables and the chisquare test and the Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. For pairwise comparisons, the Wilcoxon's sign rank test was used. Correlations between different variables were tested with the Spearman's rank correlation coefficient and Pearson's correlation coefficients. Logistic and linear regression analyses (univariate and multiple) were used for dichotomous and continuous dependent variables, respectively. Forward logistic analyses was used in paper I and in paper III and IV the enter method was used. The statistical program used was SPSS versions 12-21. P-values <0.05 were considered significant (paper I-IV).

#### Table III.

Overview of statistical methods

	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV
Wilcoxon signed rank test	Х		Х	
Mann-Whitney U-test	Х	Х	Х	Х
Independent sample t-test				Х
Chi-2 test/Fisher's exact test	Х		Х	Х
Spearman's rank correlation coefficient		Х		Х
Pearson's correlation coefficient				Х
Univariate logistic regression analysis				Х
Univariate linear regression analysis				Х
Multivariate logistic regression analysis	Х	Х		Х
Multivariate linear regression analysis				X

# Ethics

Study I and II were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University (Dnr LU 602-00) and study III and IV by the Regional Ethical Review Board in Lund, Sweden (Dnr 2011/471). The principles of the Helsinki Declaration were followed.

In all studies, participants received both written and verbal information about the purpose of the studies, the test procedure and their right to withdraw from the study at any time without giving any reason. Before the assessments, the participants gave their written informed consent.

In study I and II, all individuals with first-ever stroke were invited to take part in the study. Some individuals were severely affected by their stroke, for example by dysphasia and also by other impairments. For these individuals, assistance with assessments from spouses or personels were needed. Special caution had to be taken when measuring passive range of motion in individuals with PSSP because of discomfort when the arm was moved. Follow-ups were offered at the hospital, at the primary care center or in the participant's home, according to personal preferences. Visiting persons in their own home required respect for individual integrity. The overall impression was that individuals were satisfied to participate and also regarded it as an advantage to take part in the study.

In study III and IV, assessments were rather time-consuming and presupposed concentration from the participants. Also, the participants should be able to come to the Department of Rehabilitation Medicine as the QST equipment was not portable. Some potential participants found it difficult to come to the hospital, mainly due to their medical condition, and therefore they declined to participate. During the design of study III, we considered consequences for the participants with QST assessments as these might result in some discomfort for a short period after the assessment. Prior to the study, the researchers performed several assessments on each other, and also on healthy students as well as healthy retired persons to get familiar with the equipment, estimated the time required and calculated risk for pain. None of the test persons reported complaints of significance and thus planning for the assessments continued. The presumed participants were informed both verbally and writing about the risk for pain. As far as we know, no participant had complaints about pain due only to the assessments.

In study IV, the participants were asked about perceived participation and life satisfaction. Such questions may lead to a number of serious reflections and concerns. The participants therefore responded to the questions in a calm and quiet environment.

# Results

# Prevalence of PSSP

In the unselected stroke population with first-ever stroke (paper I), PSSP onset within four months after stroke was reported by 71 individuals (22%). Of these, 17 were pain free one year later (16 months follow-up), while a further 28 individuals had onset of PSSP during the same year period. At the 16 months follow-up, 305 individuals remained and among these, shoulder pain was reported by 74 indidvuals (24%). Taken together, during the first 16-months period, 99 (30%) of the 327 participants in the unselected stroke population developed PSSP. In the group of 58 individuals (paper II), 42 (72%) still had shoulder pain at 16 months.

For 55% of the individuals, PSSP occurred within two weeks after stroke and within two months, the percentage of PSSP had increased to 85% (paper I). Similar percentages are presented in paper II. In the selected population presented in paper III and IV, 18 (75%) of the participants reported onset of shoulder pain within two months after stroke.

## **PSSP** characteristics

Moderate to severe pain intensity scored as  $\geq$ 40 according to VAS-P was found in a majority of the PSSP participants in both populations; in 79% among the 71 PSSP participants presented in paper I and in 67% of the 24 PSSP participants presented in paper III and IV. Among participants with pain at both the four and 16-months follow-ups (paper I), the pain intensity was reduced at the second follow-up 16 months post stroke (p=0.003). Also in paper I, frequent shoulder pain (daily or constant) was reported by 84% of the PSSP participants at the four months follow-up, but at the 16-months follow-up, the earlier reported pain frequency had significantly decreased (p=0.007).

In both study populations, a majority of the PSSP participants experienced pain while the arm was moved voluntarily or passively. In paper I, 69 (97%) reported pain during arm movements four months after stroke and in the second population (paper III and IV) pain during arm movements was reported by 63%, while 33% reported pain both during movements and at rest.

# Contributing factors to PSSP

## Motor impairments

Reduced arm motor function was the main contributing factor to PSSP in both populations. In the population presented in paper I, shoulder pain was present in 83% of the participants with no motor function or severe motor impairments, while 50% of the participants with moderate motor impairments had shoulder pain. Among participants with normal motor function, only 5% had shoulder pain. Logistic regression analysis showed that two variables at baseline significantly related to PSSP four months post stroke. These two variabels were i) severe impairments at baseline according to NIHSS (p=0.008) and ii) severely affected arm motor function at baseline (NIHSS item 5) (p=0.03). At the 16 months follow-up post stroke, only severely affected arm motor function at baseline (NIHSS item 5) was an independent predictor of shoulder pain (p<0.001).

In the population presented in paper III and IV, a significant difference was found in motor function between participants with and without PSSP (p=0.03) and in paper IV, PSSP was associated with decreased upper extremity motor function in the univariate regression analysis (p=0.03; OR 3.82; 95% CI 1.13-12.87).

The number of participants with subluxation differed significantly between participants with and without PSSP (p<0.001) in paper I, but in the population described in paper II, no significant difference was seen between the groups.

Though resistance to passive movements according to the modified Ashworth Scale was more frequently found among PSSP participants in both populations, no significant difference was found between PSSP and non-PSSP participants (p=0.55 in paper II and p=0.20 in paper III and IV).

## Range of motion

Decreased passive range of motion was a contributing factor to PSSP in both populations. In the population presented in paper II, a low degree of passive range of abduction four months post stroke was a predictor for long-lasting PSSP (p=0.05; OR 4.46; 95% CI 0.99-20.10) and in the population presented in paper III and IV, participants with shoulder pain had significantly decreased passive shoulder abduction (p<0.001) in comparison to participants without shoulder pain. In the multivariate analysis presented in paper IV, decreased passive shoulder abduction was associated with upper extremity motor function (p=0.02; OR 1.03; 95% CI 1.00-1.05) but not with PSSP.

### Somatosensory impairments

A significant difference in light touch between participants with and without PSSP was found in the population presented in paper I (p<0.001). In the population presented in paper III, neither perception of light touch nor proprioception differed between the PSSP and non-PSSP partcipants. Moreover, no significant differences were found in thermal or mechanical thresholds between the participants with and without PSSP, though participants with PSSP had higher cold perception thresholds. Also, more PSSP partcipants reported abnormal cold sensation in the affected side (p=0.02). Both stroke groups had generally higher thermal thresholds and more extreme low or high mechanical thresholds than the healthy controls. Thus, the relation between PSSP and thermal thresholds was weak and no relation was found between PSSP and mechanical thresholds.

## Other contributing factors

Left-sided hemiparesis was shown to be a further risk factor for individuals with longlasting shoulder pain (p=0.01; OR 10.47; 95% CI 1.92-57.05) (paper II). Also pain frequency four months after stroke was found to be a predictor for long-lasting PSSP (p=0.02; OR 6.85; 95% CI 1.46-32.14).

## Consequences of PSSP in daily life

### Activity limitations

The impact of PSSP on the ability to perform daily activities were described in both paper I and IV. In paper I, shoulder pain while dressing was reported by 36 individuals (51%) four months after stroke, but a significant reduction in shoulder pain while dressing was present at the second follow-up 16 months post stroke (p= 0.025). In study IV shoulder pain while eating and dressing was reported by 54%.

In the unselected population (paper I), individuals with PSSP had a reduced ability to perform daily activities as assessed by the Barthel Index (p<0.001) four months after stroke, in comparison to individuals without PSSP. In the second, selected population (median 14 months post stroke) (paper IV), no significant differences were found between participants with and without PSSP in daily hand activities, as assessed by the ABILHAND questionnaire, even if the PSSP participants scored lower than the non-PSSP participants. In the regression analyses, PSSP was not associated with daily hand activities. Instead, proprioception (p=0.01; B=1.16; 95% CI=0.26-2.05), passive shoulder abduction (p=0.03; B=0.01; 95% CI=0.001-0.02) and resistance to passive movements (p=0.03; B=0.85; 95% CI=0.09-1.62) explained 44% of daily hand activities in the linear multivariate analysis.

### Perceived participation restrictions

Even if mean perceived participation was scored lower by the PSSP participants than the non-PSSP participants in paper IV, perceived participation was however in the multivariate analyses explained by other factors than PSSP. In the final model, daily hand activities (p<0.001; B=5.23; 95% CI=2.55-7.90), vocational situation (p=0.003; B=14.48; 95% CI=5.32-23.64) and sex (p=0.03; B=10.77; 95% CI=1.19-20.35) explained 41% of perceived participation. So in short, this study did not reveal a significant relation between PSSP and the indviduals perceived participation.

## Self-perceived health and life satisfaction

In paper I, self-perceived health assessed by the two questions in SF-36 "In general, how would you say your health is?" and "Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?" was scored significantly lower by the individuals with PSSP in comparison to individuals without PSSP (p<0.001).

In paper IV, only 33% of the PSSP participant rated their life satisfaction (life as a whole) as satisfied compared to 56% of the non-PSSP participans, but the difference was not significant. In the multivariate analyses, no specific association between life satisfaction and PSSP was found. In the final model, perceived participation was the only variable associated with life satisfaction (p=0.001; OR 1.08; 95% CI 1.03-1.13).

# General discussion

The studies in this thesis have focused on evaluating the prevalence of PSSP, contributing factors and consequences in daily life. The results showed that PSSP is common in individuals with reduced upper extremity motor function. Left-sided hemiparesis, pain frequency and decreased passive shoulder abduction four months after stroke are predictors for long-lasting PSSP. In individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity paresis, somatosensory impairments seem to have only a small impact on the pain and the PSSP appears to have only a small impact on their life situation.

## Prevalence of PSSP

In paper I, the prevalence of PSSP (22% four months post stroke and 24% 16 months post stroke) was in agreement with Ratnasabapathy et al. who included a similar population and reported a prevalence of 23 % six months after stroke (31). Langhorne et al. (32) reported a prevalence of 9%, but their study had a different design as it was retrospective and based on medical records. Moreover, 75-85% of the participants in the present studies reported onset of shoulder pain within two months, which is rather similar to 87% reported by Gamble et al. (30).

Within a one-year perspective post-stroke (paper I) the pain was resolved in around 20% of the individuals, mainly among individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity impairments. Furthermore, among individuals able to score VAS-P at both follow-ups, pain intensity was significantly relieved. Also another study found that shoulder pain was resolved or relieved over time (30). It is unclear why PSSP decreased over time, but suggestions are that the individuals might have regained improved upper extremity motor function, learned how to use the extremity in pain free positions or have become accustomed to the pain.

# Contributing factors to PSSP

According to the results from this thesis and previous studies (30, 35, 36, 43), some shoulder impairments seem to be present in a majority of the individuals with PSSP such as moderate to severe pain intensity, frequent pain, pain when moving the arm, reduced upper arm motor function and decreased passive range of shoulder motion. These impairments need attention, because they could be contributing factors to PSSP.

An association between shoulder pain and somatosensory impairments has been shown by previous authors (44, 48, 49) but could not be confirmed in this thesis (paper III). A small but non-significant difference in cold detection thresholds was found between PSSP and non-PSSP participants. Even if the PSSP participants had a significantly increased self-reported cold sensitivity in everyday life in comparison to the non-PSSP participants, somatosensory differences in general were small between PSSP and non-PSSP participants, indicating that PSSP in the present population is mainly nociceptive. Roosink et al. found increased abnormal cold sensation, allodynia, hyper- and hypoalgesia to pressure as well as higher thresholds for touch and electrical stimuli among PSSP participants (48). In another study by Roosink et al. widespread pain was found among individuals with PSSP (91). Zeilig et al. reported also higher thermal thresholds in the affected side in the PSSP group compared to the non-PSSP group (44). These three studies suggest that neuropathic mechanisms may play a role in PSSP. Furthermore, Soo Hoo et al. reported lower PPT thresholds in the PSSP group than in the non-PSSP group and concluded that this indicate a hypersensititivity for pressure (49). However, the study populations and the differences in somatosensory between PSSP and non-PSSP participants in these studies were small. Therefore, their conclusion that neuropathic mechanisms may play a role in PSSP must be interpreted with great caution. Sensitization might be present in a subpopulation of individuals with PSSP, but a larger study population is definitely required to confirm this.

### Who are at risk of developing PSSP?

In study I, a relationship between shoulder pain and reduced upper extremity motor function was found. This has been reported by several others (30, 31, 35, 92). However, in our study we were also able to differentiate between individuals with no or severely affected arm motor function where shoulder pain was evident in more than 80%. Moreover, in individuals with moderately affected arm motor function shoulder pain was found in 50%.

Interestingly, a recently published study has reported a lower prevalence of upper extremity impairments at stroke onset (50%) (8) in comparison to earlier studies (70-80%) (7, 9). This might be due to more effective treatment with thrombolysis and a more structured stroke care and rehabilitaiton (8). These figures indicate a development in stroke treatment which probably can decrease the prevalence of PSSP. However, for those individuals developing PSSP, more knowledge is needed to enhance the development of more effective treatments.

### Who are at risk for long-lasting PSSP?

In paper II, left-sided hemiparesis, frequently reported pain and decreased range of abduction were found to be predictors for long-lasting shoulder pain. An association between long-lasting shoulder pain and left-sided hemiparesis is described also in other studies (31, 33, 51). The underlying mechanism behind is not clear, but suggestions from previous studies are that neglect might influence these findings, as individuals with neglect might have a greater tendency to avoid using their arm (93). They might also

have an increased risk for trauma of the shoulder because of lack of proper selfcare and positioning (51).

Also pain frequency turned out to be of importance for long-lasting PSSP. This highlights the question of how to assess pain; different qualities, such as intensity, frequency and mode, needs to be taken into consideration when assessing PSSP. Assessing only pain intensity is not enough to gain a thorough picture of the pain and in the clinical setting as well as in research, several qualities are needed to describe the total pain situation.

Decreased passive range of abduction as a predictor for long-lasting shoulder pain corresponds with the results from Roosink et al. who found that restricted range of abduction was associated with PSSP six months post stroke (43). In addition, other authors have described decreased range of motion in the shoulder six months post stroke in individuals with PSSP (30, 35). However, the underlying relation remains unclear. The question is if the decreased range of motion is a consequence of decreased upper extremity motor function, or if the decreased range of motion itself causes pain.

# Consequences of PSSP in daily life

Participants in paper I described that shoulder pain constantly or often had an impact on activities in daily life such as dressing (50%) and during ambulation (30%), and in paper IV, about 50% of the participants described shoulder pain when eating and dressing. In paper I, the activity level as assessed with the Barthel Index (BI), was significantly lower in PSSP participants than those without PSSP four months post stroke. Also another study with a similar population, found that a majority of PSSP participants had significantly lower BI scores two months post stroke than those without PSSP (55). However, two other studies found no significant differences in BI scores between PSSP and non-PSSP participants (30, 37) six months post stroke. Even if a reduced upper extremity motor function was found in the PSSP participants in comparison with the non-PSSP participants in paper IV, no significant difference was found in the ability to perform daily hand activities as measured by ABILHAND. Other authors who have assessed activity in upper extremity have not found an association to PSSP (56-58). One explanation might be that individuals over time adapt to the pain and use compensatory strategies where the affected arm is less involved in daily activities. Another explanation could be that ABILHAND consists of bimanual tasks were the individuals do not have to raise their arm over the horizontal plane - a position were shoulder pain often occurs. To summarize, a significant difference in overall activity between PSSP and non-PSSP participants was seen in the unselected population, but in the selected population of individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity impairments, PSSP seems to have limited impact on daily hand activities.

In study IV, two-thirds of the PSSP participants reported frequent pain and moderate to severe pain intensity. Despite that, no significant difference was found between the PSSP and non-PSSP participants in perceived participation. Instead, daily hand activities were associated with perceived participation in the multivariate analyses. Harris & Eng did not find an association between PSSP and participation, but showed that arm and hand activity measures were related to participation (57). Contrary to these results, Faria-Fontini et al. found a relation between PSSP and participation when the Stroke Specific Quality of Life instrument was used (56). Thus, further studies about the relationship between PSSP and participation are needed.

In paper I, a significant difference in self-perceived health was seen between participants with and without PSSP, but as the PSSP individuals also had other severe impairments in comparison to the non-PSSP individuals, other impairments than the shoulder pain might have contributed to the difference. The PSSP participants in paper IV scored a lower life satisfaction than the non-PSSP participants, but the difference was not significant. Perceived participation, rather than shoulder pain, seemed to be an important contributing factor for life satisfaction. No previous study investigating the relationship between PSSP and life satisfaction has been found, but one study reported an association between PSSP and pain-related quality of life in persons with chronic stroke (58). One explanation for the results in paper IV might be that several impariments following stroke could lead to different activity limitations and participation restrictions. Shoulder pain is only one impairment among several which have to be considered when evaluating the life situation. Also, a majority of the participants were mildly to moderately affected in the upper extremity after their stroke. As individuals with severe impairments were not included in this study, the results can not be generalized to the whole stroke population in its entirety.

# Methodological considerations

## Participants

To be able to recruit participants for study III and IV, individuals with stroke onset within a period of 2,5 years from a large area had to be sought. A large number of medical records were screened, however, due to the specific inclusion- and exclusion criteria, only 49 participants could finally be included in the study. These figures reflect difficulties in recruitment when studying post-stroke shoulder pain in a selected population.

## Methods

In this thesis, several objective and self-report outcome measurements covering different domains according to ICF have been used which strengthens the studies. Other authors have also pointed out the need to cover different aspects when describing consequences after stroke (94, 95). The intention was to use only valid and reliable instruments. However, to find translated, reliable and valid outcome measures is a challenge. For example, when searching for measurements to assess daily activity limitations, instruments covering relevant acitivites for both sexes, updated for the culture and demands of the present time are needed. Another challenge is to find instruments that could be used in different settings, such as in the participant's home and at the hospital. Other instruments could have been used, but not all measures used in earlier studies for assessing motor function and pain, as for example Frenchay Arm Test and the Brief Pain Inventory, are available in Swedish.

In paper I, activity limitation was assessed with the Barthel Index, which is a more general instrument describing ability to perform daily activities as eating, grooming and mobility and not as specific as the ABILHAND questionnaire used in paper IV, which describes the ability to use the arm and hand in daily activities. The advantage with Barthel Index is that it is simple, while in ABILHAND, several aspects have to be considered for the participants when answering the questions. Therefore, studies using these different instruments make direct comparisons difficult, even if both represent activity according to ICF.

Even if the ABILHAND questionnaire is a Rasch analysed instrument, with good psychometric properties (87) and recommended for stroke studies (88), it was developed more than ten years ago and in another context. Some items, such as shelling hazel nuts and sharpening a pencil might not be relevant, and further more, some items such as threading a needle and wrapping up gifts might be gender specific activities.

The methods used to assess self-perceived health (96), perceived participation (59, 60) and life satisfaction (66) have all been used in other stroke studies and were therefore considered suitable for our populations. While the SIS participation domain contains questions about self-percieved participation in different situations, the questions used in these studies in SF-36 such as "In general, how would you say your health is?" and "Compared to one year ago, how would you rate your health in general now?" together with the Life satisfaction checklist (life as a whole) cover more general aspects.

Pain intensity, frequency, localisation and quality were recorded and assessed. All these aspects contribute to the total experience of the pain and to the impact on daily life. The instruments used in our studies have however some limitations. According to a previous study (97) many individuals who have had a stroke are unable to successfully complete visual analogue scales, related to hemi-neglect and visuospatial impairment. This was actually the case in the population used in study I and II, were VAS-P was difficult to assess for some individuals.

Pain drawing and an extended examination of neuropathic pain, for example by using the neuropathic pain diagnostic questionnaire Doleur Neuropathic 4 (DN4) (98), or by assessing allodynia using a brush in a structured way (Brush Stroke allodynia), could

have been added in paper III to give more aspects to the pain situation. Moreover, instruments assessing other consequences of PSSP could also have been used in our studies, for example depression, sleep disturbances and anxiety. However, in study III and IV individuals with severe depression were excluded because they had to be alert and concentrated during the QST assessments.

In paper III, the QST method was used, which is a relatively new method to assess somatosensory impairments in individuals with stroke. The QST method has earlier mainly been used for other diagnoses. Experiences from studies investigating chronic pain, for example fibromyalgia, showed decreased QST thresholds for stimuli, i.e. hypersensitivity. Previously hyposensitivity has been demonstrated in individuals with stroke (44, 48). Stroke in itself might lead to somatosensory impairments, and therefore it might be difficult to evaluate if they are related to the stroke or to the pain. Also, when assessing somatosensory function with QST using the method of limits, the reaction time is included. If stroke patients in general have a prolonged reaction time, there might be a bias in the assessments. When analyzing the results, it was shown that many participants did not experience pain even at the lowest limit (10°) in the Cold Pain Threshold test nor at the highest limits (1000 kPa in PPT and 400 g in PPPT) in the mechanical tests. Whether this was due to reaction time or due to a changed somatosensory status, needs to be further studied. An alternative protocol could have been used; the method of levels, in which a series of predefined stimuli are applied to the skin, and where the subject is asked to report for each stimulus whether the stimulus is perceived or not, or whether it is painful or not (83). Overall, more studies with larger study populations are needed to be able to draw conclusions if somatosensory impairments are related to PSSP. Even if QST is an established method to assess somatosensory changes, few studies have been done in stroke populations, and reliability is lacking.

## Strengths and limitations

There are several strengths and limitations in the studies in this thesis. The first study is based on a large unselected population with few drop-outs. One disadvantage was that detailed assessments were difficult to use, due to the fact that some participants had severe impairments and fatigue. An example is that motor function was assessed only in the shoulder and not in the whole upper extremity. Moreover, there was a difficulty to deal with pre-morbid status, i.e. shoulder pain before stroke onset. In study III and IV, the advantage was a well-defined study population and the use of established outcome measures. However, the population was small and the exclusion of individuals with severe upper extremity impairments, makes results difficult to generalize to the whole stroke population.

# Clinical implications and future studies

## Prevention

Results from studies in this thesis show that reduced upper extremity motor function is associated with PSSP, and that a majority of the individuals develop PSSP within two months after stroke onset. This emphazises the importance of regaining upper extremity motor function and stability around the shoulder to reduce the risk for shoulder pain. Therefore, motor training of the upper extremity should be a priority from the early stages of rehabilitation. The individual should be encouraged to use the affected arm and hand as much as possible in daily activities. This thesis has also shown that decreased range of motion is common in individuals with PSSP, which requires gentle passive and active movement to maintain range of motion in the affected shoulder. But, these suggested interventions need to be further evaluated in future research. To evaluate if early intensive treatment, consisting of motor training and passive and active movements, will prevent PSSP is an important area, but needs to be further investigated.

## Assessments

In all stages of the rehabilitation, individuals who are at risk of developing PSSP are important to identify. In those individuals, it is important that physiotherapists and other health professionals conduct a thorough examination of the upper extremity function including motor function, somatosensory status and range of motion, and a thorough examination of the pain including intensity, frequency, distribution, pain quality and additionally pain in other locations of the body. To be able to evaluate how PSSP impacts on the individual's life, the pain needs to be described in several ways according to the ICF. Therefore, there is a need to develop protocols that could be used in the clinical settings as well as in research. Furthermore, even if the results from studies in this thesis suggest that neuropathic pain is not so common after stroke, it is important to identify individuals with widespread pain to provide proper treatment.

## Treatments

Today, several treatments for PSSP are used in the clinic, for example transcutaneous electrical stimulation (99, 100), active movements (15), passive or active range of motions exercises (101), slings/supportive devices or strappings to reduce subluxation (102, 103), analgesics or anti inflammatory medication (101), intraarticular corticoid injections and botulinumtoxin (53).

As PSSP is suggested to have multifactorial causes, single treatment methods might be difficult to evaluate at a group level. To be able to reduce long-lasting PSSP, a combination of pain treatment and movement exercises might be needed in conjunction. However, the effects need to be evaluated in future research. So far, only intramuscular NMES has been shown to be effective in a three months perspective (53),

but this method is usually not available in the clinical setting. As there is no evidence that neuropathic mechanisms play a role in PSSP, treatments for the nociceptive pain, as is commonly used today seems to be the most effective. In future research, there is a great need to evaluate the effects of existing treatments as well as new novel treatments or treatment strategies.

## Considerations for future studies

When designing future studies, several considerations have to be taken into account. Even if large study populations are of importance, it might be diffcult to conduct studies that use strict exclusion- and inclusion criteria. Another difficulty when studying PSSP, is that individuals with no or almost complete loss of arm motor function are often severely disabled and therefore might have limited possibility to participate in studies. Multicenter studies are a plausible solution, but cultural factors as well as differences in stroke care must then be considered.

The lack of a precise definition of PSSP is a problem when recruiting participants for studies. In the future, it would be desirable with some form of consensus between researchers to get a more uniform definition; a time span for onset and a set of criteria based on established clinical findings and previous research. Also, in future studies pain has to be measured in a variety of ways, covering various aspects of pain and all the ICF domains. A concensus about which measurements that should be recommended to use for the PSSP population is needed. To be able to compare the results, the same or very similar outcome measures are warranted. However, one drawback is that all instruments are not validated in languages other than English. Another research area is therefore to translate instruments into different languages and assess their validity and reliability.

Increased knowledge about which QST methods that should be used in persons after stroke to optimally assess the somatosensory impairments are needed. This require large study populations. Also, more knowledge about pain mechanisms is needed to be able to identify individuals at risk for long lasting pain. Studies from chronic pain diseases have suggested that genetic factors might play a role in pain development (104). Moreover, after being exposed to stressful life events, some individuals tend to get chronic pain (105). A suggestion is therefore that some individuals might be predisposed to develop chronic pain.

Future studies should also focus on increasing the knowledge of how individuals with PSSP adapt to the pain situation, maybe by using qualitative research designs. When measuring consequences in daily life – self-reports alone might not cover all aspects according to ICF – and they might be too obtuse since the questions are predetermined. Thus, qualitative research might offer a deeper understanding of the consequences following PSSP.

# Conclusions

In response to our initial research questions, we found the following results:

In the unselected population of 327 individuals, 22% developed PSSP within four months and almost one third developed PSSP within the first 16 months after stroke onset. The majority had moderate to severe pain. The increased risk of PSSP for individuals with a severely affected arm motor function (>80%) needs close attention in post-stroke care. PSSP is associated with upper extremity motor function also in individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity impairments, which indicates that upper extremity motor function is an important contributing factor to PSSP.

A high proportion of persons with shoulder pain four months after stroke are at risk of having persistent PSSP one year later. Left-sided hemiparesis, pain reported frequently and decreased passive shoulder abduction at four months are predictors for long-lasting PSSP and require increased attention in the rehabilitation setting.

Somatosensory impairments are common among individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity impairments after stroke compared to healthy controls, but the nonsignificant differences in QST thresholds between the PSSP and non-PSSP participants indicate that somatosensory impairments have only a small impact on PSSP.

Pain in daily activites is common in individuals with PSSP. Self-perceived health was associated with PSSP in an unselected population, but in individuals with mild to moderate upper extremity impairments after stroke, a weak association with daily hand activities, perceived participation and life satisfaction was seen. This indicates that PSSP may selectively only have a small impact on a their life situation.

# Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Det övergripande syftet med denna avhandling var att öka kunskapen om skuldersmärta efter stroke avseende förekomst, bidragande faktorer och konsekvenser i det dagliga livet.

Stroke är i Sverige den vanligaste orsaken till funktionsnedsättning hos vuxna. Vanliga funktionsnedsättningar vid insjuknandet är nedsatt rörelseförmåga i ena kroppshalvan, känselnedsättning, balansstörning, synfältsbortfall och talsvårigheter. Smärta är vanligt efter stroke och har uppgetts drabba mer än en tredjedel av personerna. Skuldersmärta i den svaga sidan är en av de vanligaste typerna av smärta. Orakerna till skuldersmärta efter stroke är fortfarande inte klarlagda, men anses vara multifaktoriella. Skuldersmärtan kan inverka på det dagliga livet, men på vilket sätt är ofullständigt kartlagt.

I delarbete I studerades förekomsten av skuldersmärta, liksom bidragande faktorer, i en grupp bestående av 327 personer som insjuknat i stroke för första gången. Vid uppföljning fyra månader efter insjuknandet, hade ca 20 % utvecklat skuldersmärta. Skuldersmärtan debuterade vanligen inom några veckor eller någon månad efter insjuknandet och hade samband med graden av rörelseförmåga i axeln och armen. Vanligast var smärta i samband med rörelser och smärtan påverkade därför dagliga aktiviteter såsom påklädning och förflyttning.

I delarbete II studerades vilka faktorer som bidrog till långvarig skuldersmärta. I studien ingick 58 personer från den första studien, som alla hade nedsatt rörelseförmåga i ena sidan vid insjuknandet och skuldersmärta fyra månader efter insjuknandet. Vid uppföljning ett år senare hade 70% kvarstående smärta i skuldran. Faktorer associerade med långvarig skuldersmärta var nedsatt rörelseförmåga i vänster kroppshalva, frekvent smärta liksom nedsatt ledrörlighet i axeln.

I det tredje och fjärde delarbetet undersöktes 49 personer med stroke, 24 med och 25 utan skuldersmärta, och som hade lätt till måttlig nedsättning av rörelseförmågan i den drabbade armen och handen. I det tredje delarbetet ingick dessutom 11 ålders- och könsmatchade friska kontrollpersoner som inte hade någon skuldersmärta.

I delarbete III studerades om känselförändringar har betydelse för skuldersmärtan. Quantitative Sensory Testing, QST, användes för att mäta trösklar för temperatur, tryck och stick. Mätning av beröring och ledkänsel utfördes och personerna tillfrågades hur de upplevde sin känsel. Resultaten visade ingen statistisk säkerställd skillnad mellan personerna med och utan skuldersmärta gällande trösklar för temperatur, tryck och stick. Däremot hade personerna som drabbats av stroke, både med och utan skuldersmärta, högre trösklar för temperatur, dvs reagerade senare på stimuli än kontrollgruppen. De hade också i större utsträckning extremt höga eller låga trösklar för tryck- och stickstimuli jämfört med kontrollgruppen. Upplevelse av förändrad känsel för kyla var vanligare i gruppen med skuldersmärta jämfört med gruppen utan skuldersmärta.

I delarbete IV studerades hur skuldersmärtan efter stroke påverkar funktions- och aktivitetsförmågan, upplevd delaktighet och livstillfredsställelse. Smärtkaraktäristika registrerades och rörelseförmåga, ledrörlighet och känsel i armen bedömdes. Undersökning av aktivitetsförmåga gjordes med ABILHAND, ett frågeformulär som mäter självskattad förmåga att utföra vardagliga handaktiviteter. Upplevd delaktighet skattades med Stroke Impact Scale och livstillfredsställelse med LiSat-11. Resultaten visade att personerna som drabbats av skuldersmärta hade sämre rörelseförmåga och ledrörlighet i armen än de som inte hade skuldersmärta. Däremot påverkade inte skuldersmärtan förmågan att utföra vardagliga handaktiviteter, upplevd delaktighet eller livstillfredsställelse.

Sammanfattningsvis visar studierna i denna avhandling att skuldersmärta efter stroke är vanligt bland personer som har nedsatt rörelseförmåga i armen. Vänstersidig svaghet, frekvent smärta och nedsatt ledrörlighet i axeln fyra månader efter insjuknandet är faktorer associerade med långvarig skuldersmärta. Förändrad känsel efter stroke tycks endast ha en liten inverkan på skuldersmärtan hos personer med lätt till måttlig nedsättning av rörelseförmågan i armen. Skuldersmärtan hos dessa personer tycks inte begränsa det dagliga livet i någon större utsträckning, möjligen på grund av en anpassning till att inte använda armen i situationer där smärtan förekommer. Resultaten i avhandlingen kan leda till en bättre förståelse för hur vanligt skuldersmärta efter stroke är. Genom att bidragande faktorer beskrivits kan personer med risk att drabbas av skuldersmärta lättare identifieras och omhändertagandet förbättras.

# Acknowledgements

This work was carried out at the Department of Health Sciences, Lund University, the Department of Rehabilitation and the Department of Neurology, Skåne University hospital, Sweden. I would like to express my gratitude to all those who have helped and supported me throughout my scientific studies. I would like to give a special thank to those individuals with stroke who participated in the studies. Without their generous contribution, this thesis would not have been possible.

Christina Brogårdh, supervisor, co-author and physiotherapist, thank you for your encouraging guidance, energy and huge work with my doctoral education. Your skills both as a scientist and a professional physiotherapist are really admirable and I also thank you for your unselfish support when I needed it most, which was most of the time. I feel privileged to have had got the opportuinity to work with you.

Jan Lexell, co-supervisor and team leader, who accepted me as a doctoral student. Thank you for your innovative ideas, for your excellent scientific knowledge and for your hard work with teaching me how to structure articles and make the thesis more understandable. The multidisciplinary research team you have created at the Department of Rehabilitation has been a very creative environment and will produce a lot of important scientific results in the future.

Ann-Cathrin Jönsson, co-author and friend through all the years since the start of the first study more than ten years ago when we started in Lund Stroke Register. Thank you for always and without hesitance being prepared to answer questions or discuss interesting topics within the projects and within stroke care and rehabilitation. The discussions with you have promoted my progress.

Bo Norrving, co-author, with a world-wide net work in stroke research. Thank you for constructive advice during planning and implementation the first study.

Elisabeth Ekstrand, co-worker and co-author, for collaboration when working with study III and IV, for sharing your knowledge in stroke rehabilitation and for all our interesting discussions and ideas.

Hans Westergren, physician and co-author, for introducing into the area of pain research and for your valuable comments during the work with study III.

Cecilia Winberg, my room mate, physiotherapist and colleague in the doctoral studies. I really would like to thank you for tolerating me and all my sighs when times were difficult, and for all support and interesting discussions.

Håkan Widner, professor and former head of the Department of Neurology, for advice and support at the commencement of my doctoral studies.

Barbro B Johansson, professor and former head of the Department of Neurology, for inspiring me to start with PhD studies.

Birgitta Kahlmeter, physiotherapist, for supporting me before I commenced my PhD studies.

Gunilla Moullin, administrator, for your postive attitude, for collaboration in IT and PR business and for always being ready to help.

Gunilla Nilsson, research nurse, for all help through the years and for collaboration and discussions within the stroke area. Your skill as a research nurse and your long experience in stroke care and rehabilitation is admirable.

Kristina Hermansdotter, research nurse, for always beeing so patient and helpful with all my questions.

Håkan Carlsson and Ingegerd Gianolio-Nilsson, physiotherapists and colleagues, for all help when recruting participants to the studies and for your broad knowledge in stroke rehabilitation.

Jonas Björk, statistician, for all statistical advice and for being patient with all my questions.

Liselott Persson, physiotherapist and colleague, for supporting me even before I commenced my doctoral studies and for help with proof reading in the first project.

Ingrid Hilborn, administrator, for all help with the practical arrangements.

Michael Miller, physiotherapist and lecturer, for discussions and support when planning for the studies and for transforming the thesis into proper English.

Bo Johansson, Somedic AB, for your enthusiasm when introducing me in Quantiative Sensory Testing and ability to answer questions even when you have been at the other side of the world.

Staff at the Departments of Neurology and Rehabilitation and colleagues in the Rehab research group. The many colleagues and friends at the Department of Neurology and Department of Rehabilitation, Skåne University hospital and Health Science Center, Lund University have been encouraging and supporting and a huge source of inspiration.

My family: my husband Arne for his love, patience and all support, our wonderful children Ulrika and Emma and their boyfriends, Erik and his girlfriend and especially Agnes. Thank you all for your love and support and for tolerating my absentmindness.

Thanks to my sister Kerstin and her family and my mother Barbro for your support and engagement and also thanks to Arne's sister and brothers with families.

### Fundings

This study was supported by grants from: Research Funds of the Department of Neurology, Lund, the Swedish Stroke Association, Skåne County Council Research and Development Foundation, the Promobilia Foundation, the Norrbacka–Eugenia Foundation and Lund University.

# References

- 1. WHO. The atlas of heart disease and stroke: World Health Organization, USA's Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2004.
- Appelros P, Jonsson F, Asplund K, Eriksson M, Glader EL, Åsberg KH, et al. Trends in baseline patient characteristics during the years 1995-2008: observations from Riks-Stroke, the Swedish Stroke Register. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2010;30:114-119.
- 3. World Health Organization. International classification of functioning, disability and health : ICF. Geneva: World Health Organization 2001.
- Algurén B, Fridlund B, Cieza A, Sunnerhagen KS, Christensson L. Factors associated with healthrelated quality of life after stroke: a 1-year prospective cohort study. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2012;26:266-274.
- Mayo NE, Wood-Dauphinee S, Côté R, Durcan L, Carlton J. Activity, participation, and quality of life 6 months poststroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2002;83:1035-1042.
- Kelly-Hayes M, Robertson JT, Broderick JP, Duncan PW, Hershey LA, Roth EJ, et al. The American Heart Association Stroke Outcome Classification. Stroke. 1998;29:1274-1280.
- Lawrence ES, Coshall C, Dundas R, Stewart J, Rudd AG, Howard R, et al. Estimates of the prevalence of acute stroke impairments and disability in a multiethnic population. Stroke. 2001;32:1279-1284.
- Persson HC, Parziali M, Danielsson A, Sunnerhagen KS. Outcome and upper extremity function within 72 hours after first occasion of stroke in an unselected population at a stroke unit. A part of the SALGOT study. BMC Neurol. 2012;12:162.
- 9. Nakayama H, Jørgensen HS, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of upper extremity function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1994;75:394-398.
- Kwakkel G, Kollen BJ, van der Grond J, Prevo AJ. Probability of regaining dexterity in the flaccid upper limb: impact of severity of paresis and time since onset in acute stroke. Stroke. 2003;34:2181-2186.
- 11. World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/topics/rehabilitation/en/: World Health Organization 2013.
- 12. Indredavik B. Stroke unit care is beneficial both for the patient and for the health service and should be widely implemented. Stroke. 2009;40:1-2.
- Thorsén AM, Holmqvist LW, de Pedro-Cuesta J, von Koch L. A randomized controlled trial of early supported discharge and continued rehabilitation at home after stroke: five-year follow-up of patient outcome. Stroke. 2005;36:297-303.
- 14. Socialstyrelsen. Nationella riktlinjer för strokesjukvård stöd för styrning och ledning (in Swedish). http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/lists/artikelkatalog/attachments/17790/2009-11-4.pdf2009.
- 15. van Peppen RP, Hendriks HJ, van Meeteren NL, Helders PJ, Kwakkel G. The development of a clinical practice stroke guideline for physiotherapists in The Netherlands: a systematic review of available evidence. Disabil Rehabil. 2007;29:767-783.

- 16. Langhorne P, Bernhardt J, Kwakkel G. Stroke rehabilitation. Lancet. 2011;377:1693-1702.
- 17. Hansen AP, Marcussen NS, Klit H, Andersen G, Finnerup NB, Jensen TS. Pain following stroke: a prospective study. Eur J Pain. 2012;16:1128-1136.
- Klit H, Finnerup NB, Overvad K, Andersen G, Jensen TS. Pain following stroke: a population-based follow-up study. PLoS One. 2011;6:e27607.
- 19. O'Donnell MJ, Diener HC, Sacco RL, Panju AA, Vinisko R, Yusuf S, et al. Chronic pain syndromes after ischemic stroke: PRoFESS trial. Stroke. 2013;44:1238-1243.
- Jönsson AC, Lindgren I, Hallström B, Norrving B, Lindgren A. Prevalence and intensity of pain after stroke: a population based study focusing on patients' perspectives. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77:590-595.
- 21. Klit H, Finnerup NB, Jensen TS. Central post-stroke pain: clinical characteristics, pathophysiology, and management. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8:857-868.
- 22. Merskey H BN, editor. Classification of chronic pain. 2nd ed. Seattle: IASP Press; 1994.
- 23. Werner M, Leden I. Smärta och smärtbehandling: Liber. 2010.
- 24. Haanpää ML, Backonja MM, Bennett MI, Bouhassira D, Cruccu G, Hansson PT, et al. Assessment of neuropathic pain in primary care. Am J Med. 2009;122:S13-21.
- 25. Norrbrink C, Lundeberg T. Om smärta : ett fysiologiskt perspektiv: Studentlitteratur. 2010.
- 26. Price CI. Shoulder pain after stroke: a research challenge. Age and ageing. 2002;31 Suppl 3:36-38.
- 27. McBeth J, Jones K. Epidemiology of chronic musculoskeletal pain. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2007;21:403-425.
- van der Windt DA, Koes BW, de Jong BA, Bouter LM. Shoulder disorders in general practice: incidence, patient characteristics, and management. Ann Rheum Dis. 1995;54:959-964.
- 29. Roy CW. Shoulder pain in hemiplegia: a literature review. Clin Rehabil. 1988;2:35-44.
- 30. Gamble GE, Barberan E, Laasch HU, Bowsher D, Tyrrell PJ, Jones AK. Poststroke shoulder pain: a prospective study of the association and risk factors in 152 patients from a consecutive cohort of 205 patients presenting with stroke. Eur J Pain. 2002;6:467-474.
- 31. Ratnasabapathy Y, Broad J, Baskett J, Pledger M, Marshall J, Bonita R. Shoulder pain in people with a stroke: a population-based study. Clin Rehabil. 2003;17:304-311.
- Langhorne P, Stott DJ, Robertson L, MacDonald J, Jones L, McAlpine C, et al. Medical complications after stroke: a multicenter study. Stroke. 2000;31:1223-1229.
- 33. Demirci A, Öcek B, Köseoglu F. Shoulder pain in hemiplegic patients. J PMR Sci 2007;1:25-30.
- 34. Aras MD, Gokkaya NK, Comert D, Kaya A, Cakci A. Shoulder pain in hemiplegia: results from a national rehabilitation hospital in Turkey. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2004;83:713-719.
- Blennerhassett JM, Gyngell K, Crean R. Reduced active control and passive range at the shoulder increase risk of shoulder pain during inpatient rehabilitation post-stroke: an observational study. J Physiother. 2010;56:195-199.
- Roy CW, Sands MR, Hill LD. Shoulder pain in acutely admitted hemiplegics. Clin Rehabil 1994;8:334-340.
- Suethanapornkul S, Kuptniratsaikul PS, Kuptniratsaikul V, Uthensut P, Dajpratha P, Wongwisethkarn J. Post stroke shoulder subluxation and shoulder pain: a cohort multicenter study. J Med Assoc Thai. 2008;91:1885-1892.

- 38. Paci M, Nannetti L, Taiti P, Baccini M, Rinaldi L. Shoulder subluxation after stroke: relationships with pain and motor recovery. Physiother Res Int. 2007;12:95-104.
- Barlak A, Unsal S, Kaya K, Sahin-Onat S, Ozel S. Poststroke shoulder pain in Turkish stroke patients: relationship with clinical factors and functional outcomes. Int J Rehabil Res. 2009;32:309-315.
- 40. Zorowitz RD, Hughes MB, Idank D, Ikai T, Johnston MV. Shoulder pain and subluxation after stroke: correlation or coincidence? Am J Occup Ther. 1996;50:194-201.
- 41. Yelnik AP, Colle FM, Bonan IV, Vicaut E. Treatment of shoulder pain in spastic hemiplegia by reducing spasticity of the subscapular muscle: a randomised, double blind, placebo controlled study of botulinum toxin A. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2007;78:845-848.
- Huang YC, Liang PJ, Pong YP, Leong CP, Tseng CH. Physical findings and sonography of hemiplegic shoulder in patients after acute stroke during rehabilitation. J Rehabil Med. 2010;42:21-26.
- 43. Roosink M, Renzenbrink GJ, Buitenweg JR, Van Dongen RT, Geurts AC, MJ IJ. Persistent shoulder pain in the first 6 months after stroke: results of a prospective cohort study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2011;92:1139-1145.
- 44. Zeilig G, Rivel M, Weingarden H, Gaidoukov E, Defrin R. Hemiplegic shoulder pain: evidence of a neuropathic origin. Pain. 2013;154:263-271.
- Roosink M, Renzenbrink GJ, Geurts AC, Ijzerman MJ. Towards a mechanism-based view on poststroke shoulder pain: theoretical considerations and clinical implications. NeuroRehabilitation. 2012;30:153-165.
- Fugl-Meyer AR, Jääskö L, Leyman I, Olsson S, Steglind S. The post-stroke hemiplegic patient. 1. A method for evaluation of physical performance. Scand J Rehabil Med. 1975;7:13-31.
- 47. Wade DT. Measurement in neurological rehabilitation. Oxford ; New York: Oxford University Press 1992.
- Roosink M, Renzenbrink GJ, Buitenweg JR, van Dongen RT, Geurts AC, Ijzerman MJ. Somatosensory symptoms and signs and conditioned pain modulation in chronic post-stroke shoulder pain. J Pain. 2011;12:476-485.
- Soo Hoo J, Paul T, Chae J, Wilson RD. Central hypersensitivity in chronic hemiplegic shoulder pain. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2013;92:1-13.
- 50. Hurtig IM, Raak RI, Kendall SA, Gerdle B, Wahren LK. Quantitative sensory testing in fibromyalgia patients and in healthy subjects: identification of subgroups. The Clinical journal of pain. 2001;17:316-322.
- Ikai T, Tei K, Yoshida K, Miyano S, Yonemoto K. Evaluation and treatment of shoulder subluxation in hemiplegia: relationship between subluxation and pain. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 1998;77:421-426.
- 52. Taub E, Uswatte G, Mark VW, Morris DM. The learned nonuse phenomenon: implications for rehabilitation. Eura Medicophys. 2006;42:241-256.
- 53. Koog YH, Jin SS, Yoon K, Min BI. Interventions for hemiplegic shoulder pain: systematic review of randomised controlled trials. Disabil Rehabil.32:282-291.
- 54. Kuptniratsaikul V, Kovindha A, Suethanapornkul S, Manimmanakorn N, Archongka Y. Complications during the rehabilitation period in Thai patients with stroke: a multicenter prospective study. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2009;88:92-99.

- 55. Wanklyn P, Forster A, Young J. Hemiplegic shoulder pain (HSP): natural history and investigation of associated features. Disabil Rehabil. 1996;18:497-501.
- 56. Faria-Fortini I, Michaelsen SM, Cassiano JG, Teixeira-Salmela LF. Upper extremity function in stroke subjects: relationships between the international classification of functioning, disability, and health domains. J Hand Ther. 2011;24:257-264.
- 57. Harris JE, Eng JJ. Paretic upper-limb strength best explains arm activity in people with stroke. Phys Ther. 2007;87:88-97.
- Chae J, Mascarenhas D, Yu DT, Kirsteins A, Elovic EP, Flanagan SR, et al. Poststroke shoulder pain: its relationship to motor impairment, activity limitation, and quality of life. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2007;88:298-301.
- 59. Duncan PW, Wallace D, Lai SM, Johnson D, Embretson S, Laster LJ. The stroke impact scale version 2.0. Evaluation of reliability, validity, and sensitivity to change. Stroke. 1999;30:2131-2140.
- 60. Duncan PW, Bode RK, Min Lai S, Perera S, Glycine Antagonist in Neuroprotection Americans I. Rasch analysis of a new stroke-specific outcome scale: the Stroke Impact Scale. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2003;84:950-963.
- 61. Idler EL, Kasl SV. Self-ratings of health: do they also predict change in functional ability? J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 1995;50:S344-353.
- 62. Ware JE, Jr., Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care. 1992;30:473-483.
- 63. Pavot W, Diener E. The satisfaction, with life scale. Psychol Assess. 1993;5:164-172.
- 64. Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. J Pers Assess. 1985;49:71-75.
- 65. Fugl-Meyer AR, Melin R, Fugl-Meyer KS. Life satisfaction in 18- to 64-year-old Swedes: in relation to gender, age, partner and immigrant status. J Rehabil Med. 2002;34:239-246.
- 66. Viitanen M, Fugl-Meyer KS, Bernspång B, Fugl-Meyer AR. Life satisfaction in long-term survivors after stroke. Scand J Rehabil Med. 1988;20:17-24.
- 67. Study protocol for the World Health Organization project to develop a Quality of Life assessment instrument (WHOQOL). Qual Life Res. 1993;2:153-159.
- 68. Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. Lancet. 1974;2:1127-1131.
- 69. Kelly AM. The minimum clinically significant difference in visual analogue scale pain score does not differ with severity of pain. Emerg Med J. 2001;18:205-207.
- 70. Hacke W, Kaste M, Fieschi C, von Kummer R, Davalos A, Meier D, et al. Randomised double-blind placebo-controlled trial of thrombolytic therapy with intravenous alteplase in acute ischaemic stroke (ECASS II). Second European-Australasian Acute Stroke Study Investigators. Lancet. 1998;352:1245-1251.
- 71. Goldstein LB, Bertels C, Davis JN. Interrater reliability of the NIH stroke scale. Arch Neurol. 1989;46:660-662.
- 72. Kasner SE. Clinical interpretation and use of stroke scales. Lancet Neurol. 2006;5:603-612.
- 73. Carr JH, Shepherd RB, Nordholm L, Lynne D. Investigation of a new motor assessment scale for stroke patients. Phys Ther. 1985;65:175-179.

- Parkelius K, Johansson A, Körm K, Lindmark B. Reliabilitets- och validitetsprövning av Modifierad Motor Assessment Scale enligt Uppsala Akademiska sjukhus-95. Nordisk Fysioterapi. 1997;1:121-126.
- 75. Bohannon RW, Andrews AW. Shoulder subluxation and pain in stroke patients. Am J Occup Ther. 1990;44:507-509.
- Boyd EA, Torrance GM. Clinical measures of shoulder subluxation: their reliability. 1992;83 Suppl 2:S24-28.
- 77. Bohannon RW, Smith MB. Interrater reliability of a modified Ashworth scale of muscle spasticity. Phys Ther. 1987;67:206-207.
- Gregson JM, Leathley MJ, Moore AP, Smith TL, Sharma AK, Watkins CL. Reliability of measurements of muscle tone and muscle power in stroke patients. Age and ageing. 2000;29:223-228.
- Riddle DL, Rothstein JM, Lamb RL. Goniometric reliability in a clinical setting. Shoulder measurements. Phys Ther. 1987;67:668-673.
- McIntosh L, McKenna K, Gustafsson L. Active and passive shoulder range of motion in healthy older people. BJOT. 2003;66:318-324.
- Gilman S. Joint position sense and vibration sense: anatomical organisation and assessment. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2002;73:473-477.
- 82. Rolke R, Magerl W, Andrews Campbell K, Schalber C, Caspari S, Birklein F, et al. Quantitative sensory testing: a comprehensive protocol for clinical trials. Eur J Pain. 2006;10:77-88.
- 83. Hansson P, Backonja M, Bouhassira D. Usefulness and limitations of quantitative sensory testing: clinical and research application in neuropathic pain states. Pain. 2007;129:256-259.
- Mahoney FI, Barthel DW. Functional Evaluation: The Barthel Index. Md State Med J. 1965;14:61-65.
- 85. Muir KW, Lees KR, Ford I, Davis S. Magnesium for acute stroke (Intravenous Magnesium Efficacy in Stroke trial): randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2004;363:439-445.
- Penta M, Thonnard JL, Tesio L. ABILHAND: a Rasch-built measure of manual ability. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 1998;79:1038-1042.
- Penta M, Tesio L, Arnould C, Zancan A, Thonnard JL. The ABILHAND questionnaire as a measure of manual ability in chronic stroke patients: Rasch-based validation and relationship to upper limb impairment. Stroke. 2001;32:1627-1634.
- Ekstrand E, Lindgren I, Lexell J, Brogårdh C. Test-retest of the ABILHAND Questionnaire in persons with chronic stroke. PM &R. 2013; Accepted for publication.
- 89. Tse T, Douglas J, Lentin P, Carey L. Measuring participation after stroke: a review of frequently used tools. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2013;94:177-192.
- 90. Hayes V, Morris J, Wolfe C, Morgan M. The SF-36 health survey questionnaire: is it suitable for use with older adults? Age and ageing. 1995;24:120-125.
- 91. Roosink M, Van Dongen RT, Buitenweg JR, Renzenbrink GJ, Geurts AC, Ijzerman MJ. Multimodal and widespread somatosensory abnormalities in persistent shoulder pain in the first 6 months after stroke: an exploratory study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2012;93:1968-1974.
- 92. Jespersen HF, Jørgensen HS, Nakayama H, Olsen TS. Shoulder pain after a stroke. Int J Rehabil Res. 1995;18:273-276.

- 93. van der Lee JH, Wagenaar RC, Lankhorst GJ, Vogelaar TW, Deville WL, Bouter LM. Forced use of the upper extremity in chronic stroke patients: results from a single-blind randomized clinical trial. Stroke. 1999;30:2369-2375.
- 94. Ashford S, Slade M, Malaprade F, Turner-Stokes L. Evaluation of functional outcome measures for the hemiparetic upper limb: a systematic review. J Rehabil Med. 2008;40:787-795.
- 95. Burridge JH, Turk R, Notley SV, Pickering RM, Simpson DM. The relationship between upper limb activity and impairment in post-stroke hemiplegia. Disabil Rehabil. 2009;31:109-117.
- 96. Sprigg N, Gray LJ, Bath PM, Christensen H, De Deyn PP, Leys D, et al. Quality of life after ischemic stroke varies in western countries: data from the tinzaparin in Acute Ischaemic Stroke Trial (TAIST). J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2012;21:587-593.
- 97. Price CI, Curless RH, Rodgers H. Can stroke patients use visual analogue scales? Stroke. 1999;30:1357-1361.
- Roosink M, van Dongen RT, Renzenbrink GJ, Ijzerman MJ. Classifying post-stroke shoulder pain: can the DN4 be helpful? Eur J Pain. 2011;15:99-102.
- 99. Van Peppen RP, Kwakkel G, Wood-Dauphinee S, Hendriks HJ, Van der Wees PJ, Dekker J. The impact of physical therapy on functional outcomes after stroke: what's the evidence? Clin Rehabil. 2004;18:833-862.
- 100. Price CI, Pandyan AD. Electrical stimulation for preventing and treating post-stroke shoulder pain: a systematic Cochrane review. Clin Rehabil. 2001;15:5-19.
- 101. Turner-Stokes L, Jackson D. Shoulder pain after stroke: a review of the evidence base to inform the development of an integrated care pathway. Clin Rehabil. 2002;16:276-298.
- 102. Hanger HC, Whitewood P, Brown G, Ball MC, Harper J, Cox R, et al. A randomized controlled trial of strapping to prevent post-stroke shoulder pain. Clin Rehabil. 2000;14:370-380.
- 103. Stolzenberg D, Siu G, Cruz E. Current and future interventions for glenohumeral subluxation in hemiplegia secondary to stroke. Top Stroke Rehabil. 2012;19:444-456.
- 104. Martinez-Jauand M, Sitges C, Rodriguez V, Picornell A, Ramon M, Buskila D, et al. Pain sensitivity in fibromyalgia is associated with catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene. Eur J Pain. 2013;17:16-27.
- 105. McLean SA, Clauw DJ. Predicting chronic symptoms after an acute "stressor"--lessons learned from 3 medical conditions. Med Hypotheses. 2004;63:653-658.